
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

Strategic Planning Committee 

A meeting of the Strategic Planning Committee will be held at the Forum, 
Moat Lane, Towcester, NN12 6AD on Monday 11 July 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 

 

Agenda 
  

1.  Apologies for Absence and Appointment of Substitute Members  

 

2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 

 

3.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 May 2022. 

 

4.  Chair's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chair. 

 

Planning Applications 

5.  WNS/2022/0292/MAR Phase 1 and PART Phase 1B Norwood Farm, Land East of 
Sandy Lane Harpole (Pages 13 - 38) 

 

6.  C/2019/0750/1 Land at Malabar Farm, Staverton Road, Daventry (Pages 39 - 52) 

 

7.  Urgent Business  

The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 

 

8.  Exclusion of Press and Public  

In respect of the following items the Chair may move the resolution set out below, on 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



   

the grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that exempt information 
(information regarded as private for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972) 
would be disclosed to them: The Committee is requested to resolve: “That under 
Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that if the public were 
present it would be likely that exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Act of the descriptions against each item would be disclosed to them” 
 
None Identified. 

 

 
 
 

Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
1 July 2022 
 
 

Strategic Planning Committee Members: 

Councillor Phil Bignell (Chair) Councillor Ann Addison (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Jonathan Harris Councillor Rosie Herring 

Councillor Stephen Hibbert Councillor James Hill 

Councillor David James Councillor Charles Manners 

Councillor Ken Pritchard Councillor Bob Purser 

Councillor Jake Roberts Councillor Cathrine Russell 

Councillor John Shephard  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 2



Information about this Agenda 

 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start 
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Diana Davies, Democratic 
Services via the following:  
 
Tel: 01327 322195 
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
One Angel Square 
Angel Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED 
 
 

Page 3

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Strategic Planning Committee 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Strategic Planning Committee held at The Forum, 
Towcester on Monday 9 May 2022 at 2.00 pm. 
 
Present Councillor Phil Bignell (Chair) 

Councillor David James (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Penelope Flavell 

Councillor Andre Gonzalez De Savage 
Councillor Jonathan Harris 
Councillor Rosie Herring 
Councillor Charles Manners 
Councillor John Shephard 
 

Substitute 
Members: 
 

Councillor Ken Pritchard 

Apologies 
for 
Absence: 
 

Councillor James Hill 
Councillor Stephen Hibbert 

Officers Surinder Atkar, Planning Solicitor 
Diana Davies, Democratic Services Officer 
Samuel Dix, Principal Planning Officer 
Jeverly Findlay, Committee Officer 
Rebecca Grant, Major Projects Officer, Planning Department Daventry 
Rae King, Senior Environmental Health Officer 
Andrew Longbottom, Principal Planning Officer 
Chuong Phillips, Principal Planning Officer 
Nicky Scaife, Development Management Team Leader 
Paul Seckington, Interim Head of Development Management, 
Enforcement and Land Charges 

 
 

53. Declarations of Interest  
 
None advised. 
 
 

54. Minutes  
 
That the Minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee of 11 April 2022 be approved 
and signed as a correct record. 
 
 

55. WND/2021/0172 - Reserved Matter, Zone 10 Overstone Leys, Overstone Lane,  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Strategic Planning Committee - 9 May 2022 
 

WND/2021/0172 for the Reserved Matters application relating to (access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) for 350 dwellings (Zone 10) pursuant to 
outline approval DA/2013/0850 and approval of Condition 26 (noise) and Condition 
37 (travel plan). 
 
The Major Projects Officer outlined the information in the addendum report to 
Committee for the reserved matters application.  
 
Councillor Andre Gonzalez De Savage entered the meeting. 
 
Members’ were advised that the Council’s Environmental Health Officer had raised 
significant concerns in relation to noise (internal and external) from the commercial 
buildings to the south of the site. 
 
Katherine Else, the agent addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
 
Further to enquiries from Members, the Major Projects Officer advised that the 
principal of residential development had been approved at the outline stage.  
However Condition 26 required the scheme to meet specific requirements regarding 
noise levels. Following extensive negotiations the updated submissions from the 
developer remained unacceptable to the Council and it was now before committee 
with a recommendation for refusal (as set out in the addendum to the agenda). 
 
Suggestions for mitigating the noise impact from the commercial units included: The 
provision of double glazing, moving houses further away, changing the style of 
housing, noise bunds and a suggestion that the developer contact the owner of the 
commercial unit. 
 
In response to a Member enquiry, the Senior Environment Health Officer reported 
that bunds had been considered to reduce the impact of noise on the site. 
 
The Chair reminded Members that if they had not been present for the full 
presentation they would not be in a position to vote. 
 
Councillor David James proposed the application be refused, this was seconded by 
Councillor Charles Manners and on being put to the meeting was declared carried 
with six voting in favour, none against. Councillor Andre Gonzalez de Savage 
refrained from voting. 
 
RESOLVED:  
That planning permission be refused for the following reasons: 
 
The proposal is contrary to Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 

Strategy which requires new developments which are likely to result in exposure to 

sources of pollution to demonstrate they provide opportunities to minimise and where 

possible reduce pollution issues that are a barrier to achieving sustainable 

development and healthy communities.  In this case the proposed design of the 

residential scheme would result in unacceptable internal and external noise levels 

within the development, as a result of noise from the nearby industrial estate. 

Page 6



Strategic Planning Committee - 9 May 2022 
 

 
56. DA/2018/0526 Land at Mickle Well Park, Ashby Road, Daventry  

 
DA/2018/0526 for the Reserved matters application (appearance, landscaping, layout 
and scale) for development of 344 dwellings (including 17 self-build plots) pursuant to 
condition 1 of outline planning permission DA/2014/0869 in addition to discharge of 
conditions, 10, 15, 21, 22, 26 & 32 
 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined the information in the report to Committee for 
the reserved matter application  
 
In response to Members’ enquiries, the Principal Planning Officer advised that: 

 They would be working with the developer regarding the clustering. 

 The policy requirement for the provision of affordable housing for a 
development was a minimum of 25% and the provision on this development 
would be higher than that. 

 The affordable housing would be ‘Tenure Blind’ and therefore would not be 
identifiable. 

 The pricing of affordable housing was not within planning control.   

 Design guides would set out the specification for the self-build and would 
include a minimum Sustainable Home Code level 4 and address climate 
change requirements. 

 The Councils requirement to amend the house types and the number of 
affordable units required to ensure the provision met the policy requirements,  
would be addressed with the applicant.   Should the requirements not be met 
the application would be re-presented to committee. 

 
George Smith, the agent addressed the Committee in support of the application. 
 
In response to enquiries, the Principal Planning Officer reported that: 

 Self-build would be delivered through the design code, where the level of 
specification would be brought forward.   

 Once self-build developers had been identified they would determine the 
requirements and the specification. The design and build of houses would be 
set out in a design code.   

 The build within the site would be delivered through a selection of projects 
once the demand had been assessed – not been actively marketed to make 
the assessment. 

 17 units and additional 7 on phase 1.  Legal agreement would need to be 
varied if the 17 (application approved subject to legal agreement and 
conditions).   

 Local authority would be assisting with the self-build.  

 Solar panels would be included within the site.   

 There would be provision of Electrical Charging Units for electric vehicles. 

 The external appearance of the self-build would be approved through the 
reserved matters application.  The design code specifications would allow for 
innovation but would be sensitive to the area. 

 The provision of two bed houses had been reviewed with the Council’s 
planning strategy team. 

Page 7



Strategic Planning Committee - 9 May 2022 
 

 Shared ownership properties were included within the site as per the policy – 
a mix of 2/3 rented 1/3 shared ownership. 

 Approval would be subject to the conditions listed and would be capped off 
before development. 

 The community facilities would comprise of a shop and community facility for 
local groups. Flat would be built on the upper floor above the shop so the 
area was in constant use to deter antisocial behaviour.  The community use 
D1, D2 had been secured by legal conditions. 
 

Councillor David James proposed the application be approved, this was seconded 
by Councillor John Shepherd and on being put to the meeting was declared carried 
unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED:  
That the Assistant Director for Growth, Climate and Regeneration be granted 
Delegated Powers to finalise matters as set out within the report and then to grant 
planning permission subject to conditions as deemed appropriate relating to: 
 

 Final plans  

 Materials submission 

 Securing parking for private motor vehicles 

 Implement ecological and landscape management plan 

 Secure self-build principles  

 

 
57. N/2014/1429 Dallington Grange, Mill lane, Kingsthorpe, Northampton, NN5 7PZ  

 
N/2014/1429 Application for the partial approval of details submitted pursuant to 
condition 8 (Design Code) to include all details relating to residential and landscaping 
areas but excluding details relating to all Commercial Areas, Mixed Use Areas, 
Grange Farm Commercial Hub, Secondary School and Primary Schools. relating to 
planning permission N/2014/1429 [Outline Planning Application (all matters reserved 
except access) for a Sustainable Urban Extension comprising up to 3,000 dwellings 
including affordable housing; up to 7.2ha employment land (Class B1 office/light 
industry and Class B2 general industry); a local centre to accommodate a food store 
(2,230m2), 6 shop units (750m2) for retail (Class A1), professional and financial 
services (Class A2), restaurant/cafe (Class A3), drinking establishment (Class A4) 
and hot food takeaway (Class A5); public house/restaurant; nursery (Class D1); 2 
primary schools; secondary school; redevelopment of Grange Farm for 
cafe/restaurant/public house or hotel; extension of the North West Bypass on the site; 
provision of open space and strategic landscaping and wildlife corridors; surface 
water/flood management works and associated engineering works for drainage and 
services. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined the information in the report to Committee for 
the reserved matter application. 
 
Further to enquiries from Members, the Principal Planning Officer reported: 

Page 8



Strategic Planning Committee - 9 May 2022 
 

 The significant build would evolve against the wider development with any 
necessary changes being made if the build regulations were altered.   

 The design and features policy??had not required the developers to include 
solar panels but would not preclude the developer including them.   

 Application of the design code would be enforced through the reserved 
matters applications and the Sustainable Urban Extension’s enforcement 
officers. 

 Consideration had been given to the environment and nature.  The design 
code would provide landscaping, swales and parks within the development 
which would enhance the biodiversity of the site. Currently it was arable land 
which was considered poor for biodiversity. 

 The design code would be in two parts, residential & landscaping and 
commercial.  The commercial aspects of the development would be 
addressed at the latter stages of the development. 

 The Environmental Health Officer advised that the Section 106 agreement 
had set out the discharge at 1000 houses. 

 
Nicky Scaife, Senior Planning Officer reported that the risk of noise and pollution 
from lodge farm industrial estate in the north of the site would be addressed in the 
conditions on the outline consent. 
 
Councillor Ken Pritchard proposed the application be approved, this was seconded 
by Councillor David James and on being put to the meeting was declared carried 
unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED:  
To Delegate to the Head of Development Management and Enforcement to partially 
approve the details submitted pursuant to Condition 8 (Design Code) to include all 
details relating to residential and landscaping areas but excluding details relating to 
all commercial areas, mixed use areas, Grange Farm commercial hub, secondary 
school and primary schools subject to the following matters being addressed in a 
revised design code and considered acceptable:  
 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on car parking 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on the SUDS 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on the house typologies 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on waste 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on landscaping 
 

 
58. WNS/2021/1939/MAF Land adjoining Cherwell Valley Business Park OX17 3AA  

 
WNS/2021/1939/MAF solar park with associated infrastructure including two 
substations, raised plinths and reinforced grass track. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined the information in the report to Committee for 

the application for the solar park.  And updated the Committee with regard to 
objections received and the conditions to recommendations which had been added. 
 

Page 9



Strategic Planning Committee - 9 May 2022 
 

Further to enquiries from Members, the Principal Planning Officer advised: 

 An informative could be added to this application to ensure it reverted to 
arable land and did not become a brown field site. 

 The land could be utilised for grazing. 
 
Nicholas Wyke, representing Peter Frampton, the agent, addressed the Committee in 
support of the application. 
 
Further to enquiries from Members, the agent advised: 

 The contractor would be responsible for maintaining the solar panels. 

 A construction management plan would be drawn up, and a public 
consultation undertaken which would include affected neighbouring parishes. 

 An agreement had been made with western power who would take the 
renewable power. 

 The agent was not aware of a plan to increase this site to connected plots of 
land. 

 
Further to enquiries from Members, the Principal Planning Officer reported: 

 Solarsense had produced the service reports and technical specifications. 

 The requirement for signage to provide a point of contact for maintenance 
issues, could be included in the conditions. 

 The specification for an unobtrusive colour of fencing could be specified in the 
conditions.   

 
Councillor John Shepherd proposed the application be approved, this was seconded 
by Councillor Andre Gonzalez de Savage and on being put to the meeting was 
declared carried unanimously. 
 
RESOLVED:  
To delegate to the Head of Development Management and Enforcement to Grant 
Permission subject to the conditions set out in the reports submitted (and any 
amendments to the conditions as deemed necessary). 
 
 

59. Urgent Business  
 
There were no items of Urgent Business. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 4.05 pm 
 
 

 Chair:   

   
 Date:  

Page 10



West Northamptonshire Council 
Strategic Planning Committee 

Monday 11 July 2022 

 

Agenda 
Item  

 

Ward Application Number Location Recommendation Officer 

5 Bugbrooke WNS/2022/0292/MAR  Phase 1 and 
PART Phase 
1B Norwood 
Farm, Land 
East of Sandy 
Lane Harpole 

  

*Grant Permission Suzanne 
Taylor 

6 Daventry 
West 

 

C/2019/0750/1 

 

Land at 
Malabar 
Farm, 
Staverton 
Road, 
Daventry 

 

*Agree to 
Discharge the 
Design Code 
Condition  

Rebecca 
Grant 

 

 

*Subject to conditions 

Page 11

Agenda Annex



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:

Parish:

Town\Village:

Site Area:  

Grid Location:

Map Scale: 1:5000

9

22

1

30

23

14

14

67

1

19

3

12

12

5

15
107

8

9a

27

19

10

28

11

30

14

35

1

36

25

33

34

10

18

17

8

21

78

9

30 to 45

11

37

14

56

82
b

42

18

34

80b

Def

WEGGS

W
EG

G
S 

FA
RM

 R
O

AD

EMILION

M
AR

TE
L 

CL
O

SE

CLOSE

CLOSE

COURT

W
R

EN
BU

R
Y

ST CRISPIN CRESCENT

Tr
ac

k

LB

2

7

20

7

38

16

4

64

Shelter

7

12

14

89

6

11

5

11

20

114

3

1

Scrap

8

40

7

29

Sub Sta

19

48

45

46

26

22

21

19

16

101

2

14

Nursery

Pond

1.
22

m
 R

H

1.22m FF

Boro Const Bdy

WRENBURY

BR
O

UG
H

BOLLINGER CLOSE

W
RE

NB
UR

Y

H
EY

FO
R

D
 R

O
AD

2 to 12

2

21

11
17

51

16

1

20

29

11

41

56

Sh
el

te
r

20

4

91

12

11

6

8

2

15

2

132

11

7

Yard

1

42

12

53

El

37

23

1

22

20
 to

 2
9

27

9

15

4

82
c

76

80

2a
2

35

80a

5

CG

ROMAN ROAD

Bo
ro

 C
on

st
 B

dy

C
o 

C
on

st
, C

P 
& 

ED
 B

dy

VIEN
N

E C
LO

SE

SA
N

D
Y 

LA
N

E

MATCHLESS

BLOSSAC COURT

SAINT

DENT CLOSE

ESS

112.8m

3

2

1

11

18

34

7

1

4

2

12

5

74

9

10

29

25

120

10
6

1

29

1

8

55

83

17

15

32

28

294

12

Nursery

11

1

2

68

27

24

32

14

14

1

10

14

14a

4

35A

Play Area

C
o C

onst, C
P & ED

 Bdy

W
EGGS FARM

 ROAD

SA
ND

Y 
LA

NE

R
O

AD

R
O

U
N

D
W

O
O

D
 W

AY

RO
AD

Ps

114.9m

112.2m

20

5

27

3

15

15

2

14

20

11

22
4a

Shelter

7

16

1

12

1

34

12

35

45

35

5

5

12

15

5

5

84

28

31

23
22

33

7

39

19

1

32

11 14

8

2A

22

El Sub Sta

1.22m RH

1.
22

m
 R

H

Co Const & Ward Bdy

BERRYWOOD ROAD

EXCELSIOR GARDENS

C
O

N
N

O
LL

Y 
R

O
AD

N
O

R
W

O
O

D
 R

O
AD

LB

112.2m

119.2m

4

15

5

10

33

22

41

38

12

49

98

21

112

1

124

40

14

9

139

7

12

43

30

38

55

26

7

82
a

54

52

57

28

14

25

3

Bordeaux Court

13

23

103

18

781

226

1

Water

C
o 

C
on

st
, C

P 
& 

ED
 B

dy

1.
22

m
 R

H

Co Const, CP & ED Bdy

ROAD

BO
R

D
EA

U
X 

C
LO

SE

VI
EN

N
E 

C
LO

SE

ENFIELD
 CLO

SE

CLOSE

M
AN

D
ER

 C
LO

SE

BE
R

R
YW

O
O

D
 D

R
IV

E

Pa
th

Pa
th

Line Of Posts

103.9m

118.0m

10

21

15

20

14

9

10

40 to 64 (even)

11

22

2

15

10

1

14

22

14

33

31

33

1

3

22

Beechwood

9

11

71
4

86

32

45

14

36

40

66

9

12

34

1

82

8

8

21

17

39

26

12

21

44

46

38

15

22

27

1.22m
 R

H

U
nd

Boro Const Bdy

POITIERS

G
RE

EV
ES

 C
LO

SE

AQUITAINE

G
RI

FF
IT

HS
 C

LO
SE

Ppg Sta

103.9m

1

14

5

1

29

ESS

3

39
23

33

1

53

63

32

26

63

36

27

Lodge

65

95

1

97

18

87

77

19

6

24

14

43

5

7

28

63

44

19

31

40

49

17

7

17

9

8

22

Berrywood Hospital

6

12

24

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

Playground (Play Area)

BERRYWOOD DRIVE

ROMAN ROAD TRIUMPH GARDENS

RU
DG

E 
M

EW
S

CLOSE

VIN
CENT C

LO
SE

DOUGLAS ROAD

FARM

ROAD

ST
 L

UK
ES

 C
LO

SE

116.4m116.4m

WNS/2022/0292/MAR

Harpole CP

Harpole

11.3960 Ha

SP7061161600

©  C rown  Copyrigh t. A ll righ ts  and  da tabase  righ ts  reserved . 
W est Northamp tonsh ire  Counc il 100063706  2022

Site

Site of Archaeological Asset

SNC Boundary

Special Landscape Area

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:  WNS/2022/0292/MAR 
 

Location: Phase 1 and PART Phase 1B Norwood Farm, Land East Of 

Sandy Lane Harpole 
 

Proposal: Reserved Matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 

relating to Phase 1 and PART Phase 1B (as shown on Indicative 
Phasing Plan 24556 RG-M-80 Rev G dated 20.10.20) for the 
provision of 349 dwellings, in accordance with planning 
permission ref S/2016/1324/EIA (The outline application was 
accompanied by an Environmental Statement) 

 

 

Applicant:    Miller Homes Ltd    
 
Agent:               
 

Case Officer:   Suzanne Taylor  
 

 

Ward:     Bugbrooke   
     

 
Reason for Referral:  Affects Sustainable Urban Extension 
 
Committee Date:  11/07/2022    
 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR GROWTH, 
CLIMATE AND REGENERATION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
AND RECEIPT OF SATISFACTORY AMENDMENTS 
 
Proposal  
Reserved matter application for a residential phase of Norwood Farm SUE comprising 349 
dwellings (to include 15% affordable houses), public open space, surface water attenuation 
pond and Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP). 
 
Consultations 
The following consultees have raised objections to the application: 

 Upton Parish Council 
 
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application: 

 Harpole Parish Council, External Funding Partnership, Archaeology, Sport England, 

Strategic Housing, Planning Policy, Environmental Protection, Building Control, 

The following consultees have made comments on the application: 

 Ward Member, Duston Parish Council, Local Highway Authority, CPDA, Stagecoach, 
NHS, Ecology, Recreation and Leisure. 
 

5 letters of objection have been received. 
 

Page 15



 
Conclusion  
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.  
 
The key issues arising from the application details are:  

 Principle of Development 

 Design and Layout 

 Density and Mix of House Types 

 Affordable Housing 

 Highways and Parking 

 Open Space and LEAP 

 Surface Water and Foul Drainage 

 Residential Amenity 
 

The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the 
proposal can be made acceptable with the submission of amended plans and subject to 
conditions.  

 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
 
MAIN REPORT  
 

1. APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  
 
1.1 The application site covers just under 11.5 hectares and represents Phase 1 and part of 

Phase 1B of the 104.77 hectare Norwood Farm SUE allocation (Policy N9A of the LPP1).  
The site also encompasses a small part of the southeasternmost section of the 
Northampton West SUE allocation (Policy N4 of the LPP1).  The areas of the site to the 
east of the existing Sandy Lane lie within the Harpole Neighbourhood Plan area. 
 

1.2 The site is predominantly agricultural land located on the western edge of Northampton’s 
urban area with Sandy Lane running north/south along the western boundary.  To the 
east lies an existing hedge/landscape buffer to existing residential properties within the 
St Crispin’s development.   
 

1.3 The majority of the site gently slopes down from north to south and east to west with a 
couple of steeper sloping sections to the south and west. The roundabout junction of 
Berrywood Road with Sandy Lane sits adjacent to the north western corner of the site.  
Native species trees and hedgerows characterise the boundaries of the parcel. To the 
south west lies the village of Harpole and to the north is the residential area of New 
Duston.  The site also shares boundaries with two existing businesses (Sandy Lane 
Nurseries and T S Threadgold) which are situated off the existing Sandy Lane. 

 

1.4 The boundary between the former Northampton and South Northamptonshire 
administrative areas runs broadly north south along the eastern site boundary. This site 
lies wholly within the former administrative boundary of South Northamptonshire (known 
as Norwood Farm).  The site lies within the Hemplow Hills, Cottesbrooke and Brington 
Special Landscape Area. 

 

Page 16



2. CONSTRAINTS 
 

2.1. The application site is within: 

 N9a and N4 SUE allocations in LPP1; 

 2KM of various Local Wildlife Sites (Nobottle Belt, Oldfield Thicket, Harlestone 

Firs, Bottom Spinney, Camp Lane & Drain, Heath Spinney & Brook, Berry Wood, 

Dallington Brook Grassland, Upton Pasture) 

 High, Medium and Low Surface Water flooding areas; 

 Harpole Neighbourhood Plan Area; 

 Hemplow Hills, Cottesbrooke and Brington Special Landscape Area; 

 
2.2. The following constraints lie within the site: 

 Various archaeological assets across the site (Probable Romano-British 

Settlement, Monument ID: MNN6119; Possible Prehistoric & Romano British 

Activity, Monument ID: MNN1929); 

 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 

3.1. A hybrid planning permission was granted in 2020 for Norwood Farm SUE. This granted 
full planning permission for the missing section of the Sandy Lane Relief Road within the 
site and outline permission for up to 1,900 dwellings (with associated infrastructure 
including local centre, primary school, public open space/Country Park). 
 

3.2. This development is a reserved matters application seeking detailed planning permission 
for some of the earlier residential phases of the SUE. The details include 349 dwellings 
(of which 14.9% are affordable) with associated open space, children’s Local Equipped 
Area of Play (LEAP) and other related infrastructure. 
 

3.3. Timescales for Delivery: The applicant has advised that, in the event that planning 
permission is granted, they anticipate development commencing in August 2022 with 
the first houses being occupied by May 2023. 
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:  
 

Application Ref. Proposal Decision 

WNS/2021/0894/MAR Reserved Matters submission relating to 
phase 1a pursuant to hybrid planning 
permission S/2016/1324/EIA. RM for 
phase 1a comprising 439 new homes with 
associated infrastructure, open space 
and children’s Local Equipped Area of 
Play, with 15% affordable housing 

APPROVED 

WNS/2021/1198/MAR Reserved matters (scale, layout, 
appearance and landscaping) for the 
provision of sports pitches, pavilion, 
country park, play areas and public open 
space, in accordance with planning 
permission ref S/2016/1324/EIA. 

APPROVED 

Page 17



S/2016/1324/EIA Hybrid planning application seeking both 
full and outline planning permission for: 
Part A: Outline planning permission for a 
sustainable urban extension comprising: 
Up to 1,900 dwellings (use class C3); 
Public open space and children's play 
areas; Landscape areas, new landscape 
planting and hydrological attenuation 
features and sustainable drainage 
systems; Primary school (use class D1); 
and Mixed use local centre which may 
include residential (use class C3), retail 
(use classes A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5), and 
health and community facilities (use class 
D1). 
Part B: Full planning permission for: 
Demolition of any on site buildings or 
structures; and Routing of Sandy Lane 
Relief Road and associated vehicular 
access points. 
Application is accompanied by an 
Environmental Impact Assessment. 

APPROVED 

 
 

5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
Statutory Duty 
 

5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Development Plan 
 

5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local 
Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 
15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy framework for the 
District to 2029, the adopted South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) and adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans.  The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan 
are set out below: 
 
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1) 
 

5.3. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are: 
 

 SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

 S1 – Distribution of Development 

 S3 – Scale and Distribution of development 

 S4 – Northampton Related Development Area 

 S5 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 

 S6 – Monitoring and Review 

 S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 

 S11 – Low Carbon and Renewable Energy 

Page 18



 C1 – Changing Behaviour and Modal Shift 

 C2 – New Developments 

 C3 – Strategic Connections 

 C5 – Enhancing Local and Neighbourhood connections 

 R1 – Spatial Strategy for Rural Areas 

 RC2 – Community Needs 

 H1 – Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings 

 H2 – Affordable Housing 

 H4 – Sustainable Housing 

 BN1 – Green Infrastructure Connections 

 BN2 – Biodiversity 

 BN5 – The Historic Environment and Landscape 

 BN7a – Water Supply, Quality and Waste Water 

 BN7 – Flood Risk 

 BN8 – The River Nene Strategic River Corridor 

 BN9 – Planning for Pollution Control 

 BN10 – Ground Stability 

 INF1 – Approach to Infrastructure Delivery 

 INF2 – Contributions to Infrastructure requirements 

 N9A – Northampton Norwood Farm/Upton Lodge Sustainable Urban Extension 

 
South Northamptonshire Local Plan (Part 2) (LPP2) 
 

5.4. The relevant policies of the LPP2 are: 

 SS1 – The Settlement Hierarchy 

 SS2 – General development and design principles 

 LH1 – Residential development inside and outside settlement confines 

 LH8 – Affordable Housing 

 LH10 – Housing Mix and Type 

 SDP2 – Health facilities and wellbeing 

 INF1 – Infrastructure delivery and funding 

 INF2 – Community facilities 

 INF4 – Electric vehicle charging points 

 GS1 – Open space, sport and recreation 

 GS2 – Local green spaces 

 HE1 – Significance of heritage assets 

 HE2 – Scheduled ancient monuments and archaeology 

 HE5 – Listed Buildings 

 HE6 – Conservation Areas 

 HE7 – Non designated heritage assets 

 NE2 – Special Landscape Areas 

 NE3 – Green infrastructure corridors 

 NE4 – Trees, woodlands and hedgerows 

 NE5 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 

 NE6 – SSSI and protected species 

Page 19



 
Harpole Neighbourhood Plan (NHP) 
 

5.5. The relevant policies of the (NHP) are: 

 Policy H2 – Integrated tenures; 

 Policy H3 – Design Principles; 

 H6 – Green Wedges; 

 H9 – Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity; 

 H10 – Protecting and Enhancing Local Landscape Character in Harpole Parish; 

 Policy H11 – Traffic Management and Transport Improvements; 

 H12 – Footpaths/cycleways/connectivity. 

 
Material Considerations 
 

5.6. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 Nortoft Study: Planning for the Future of Open Space, Sport and Recreation in 
West Northamptonshire 

 Strategic Development Framework (SDF) - Strategic Development Framework – 
a document produced as a technical guide/evidence base to inform the master 
planning process and as a tool to guide and co-ordinate future development in 
West Northamptonshire. It does not constitute planning policy, but it is consistent 
with and amplifies the LPP1 strategic policy framework of providing a ‘plan-led’ 
approach to guide development of the SUE’s. 

 Northamptonshire Parking Standards 
 

6. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 

Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 
report. 
 

Consultee Name Comment 

Ward Member 
Cllr Golby 

Comments  
Supports the position of Duston Parish Council. 
 
Strategic road infrastructure (including the SLRR) should have 
been delivered up front to avoid detrimental highway impacts on 
the local community. 
 
Concern that the local infrastructure is being severely stretched 
for Duston residents with reference to increase in traffic and 
pressure on Primary Health Care (St Luke’s Medical Centre).  
Questions if public open space/amenities will be adequate to 
serve the new residents. 
 
Notes the concerns of local residents about the ecological impacts 
of the development and seeks assurance that mitigation is 
provided to safeguard wildlife. 
 

Page 20



Harpole Parish 
Council 

No objection  
The plans accord with the Norwood Farm masterplan. 

Duston Parish 
Council 

Comments 
Improvements need to be made to the local network to mitigate 
the impact of increased traffic. 
 
Agree with the LHA that confirmation is sought to ensure that the 
SLRR dualling corridor can be accommodated by the 
development. 
 
Request that S106 monies are spent in Duston to support local 
amenities such as schools, GP surgeries and library. 
 

Upton Parish 
Council 

Object 
Significant improvements would need to be made to the local road 
network as the development in its current form will inevitably have 
a negative impact on Upton and will significantly increase traffic 
on local roads. The delivery of the Sandy Lane Relief Road 
(SLRR) and then also the proposed Northampton North West 
Bypass is critical to reduce traffic congestion in Upton as 
highlighted by the local Highway Authority. 
 
Requests that s106 / CIL to be spent/passed to Upton Parish 
Council area to improve and enhance local amenities. 
 

Local Highway 
Authority 

Comments 
 
Original Submission: 
Requests that a number of amendments are made to the 
proposals: 
 
• If the private drive by plot 348 is proposed to be a shared 
access, serving two to five dwellings, (up to 
but not exceeding a maximum length of 45m from the highway 
boundary), it must have a minimum width of 4.5m for the first 
10.0m from the highway boundary to enable two opposing 
vehicles to pass. 
 
• The shared access by plot 6 must meet the highway at 90 
degrees to ensure vehicles have maximum visibility in both 
directions when exiting onto the highway. All access must meet 
the highway at 90 
degrees and will require amending site-wide. Eg plots 340 & 32. 
 
• Single garages cannot be counted as parking spaces as these 
are often used for storage, please amend site-wide in line with 
Northamptonshire Parking Standards. 
 
• The area serving plots 287 to 235 has too many parking bays 
and parking courts in such a condensed area. 
 
• No more than 4 spaces are permitted before full height kerb is 
provided. This consist of 2 x 900mm tapered kerbs and a 900mm 
dropped kerb which equates to 2.7m between parking spaces. 
E.g. by plot 

Page 21



334. 
 
• The use of rear parking courts is not supported as these are 
often not used resulting in vehicles parking on the highway where 
they cause an obstruction. (Officer Note: Although the LHA prefer 
that parking courts are not utilised these have been approved for 
Norwood Farm SUE as per the Design Code). 
 
• Tandem parking is not permitted in parking courts for example 
plots 306,308, 309 & 313 please amend site-wide. 
 
• It is not permitted for private drives to be drive through, see plots 
282 to 286, please amend detailing a permanent structure suitably 
placed to stop vehicles. 
 
• The private drive which starts by plot 213 is unacceptable and 
will require re-designing as there are currently 2 parking courts 
taking access along with numerous additional dwellings with 
parking 
allocations. The LHA only permit 5 dwellings to take access from 
a private drive. 
 
• Visitor spaces within private drives are for the use of occupants 
and visitors to those dwellings only. 
 
• Please provide tracking for the parking allocation for plot 151, 
105, 112. 
 
• One of the proposed junctions is too acute and close to the 
junction with the main carriageway. 
  
• Too many dwellings with access off a what appears to be a 
private drive between plots 24 & 29.  
 
• Dwellings should be set back a minimum of 1m from the 
highway to ensure doors & windows or RWG do not overhang the 
highway e.g. Plot 33. 
 
• It is not permitted for a carriageway to change to a shared 
surface as detailed between plots 30 & 41 except for at junctions, 
please amend.  
 
• Where is the proposed parking for plots 39-44. 
  
• Please ensure the footpath continues at 2m around all sides of 
the turning head between plots 83 & 88. 
 
• No more than 100m of straight carriageway will be permitted 
without a raised table being suitably positioned within the length. 
 
• The applicant is required to demonstrate a suitably wide 
proposed corridor to facilitate the eventual future dualling of the 
SLRR. 
 
Confirms that the site is not affected by a PROW. 

Page 22



 
Amended Proposal: 
Makes the following comments: 
 
• The Primary Roads should measure 6.5m to meet the LHA 
Standards as they are currently detailed at 6.3m 
(Officer Note: Primary Street carriageways have already been 
agreed at 6.3m for Norwood Farm SUE as per the Design Code in 
consultation with the LHA) 
 
• How are speeds proposed to be reduced to 20mph on the 
section of carriageway off the primary road by plot 8. 
 
• The junction to the shared surface arrangement between plots 8 
and 21 is too close to the Primary Road. 
 
• All vehicular accesses onto the highway must meet the 
carriageway at 90 degrees to ensure maximum visibility in both 
directions is achievable, please amend site-wide. Eg plot 31 
 
• Please ensure the footpath is correctly detailed at 2.0m around 
all sides of the turning head between plots 32 and 37. 
 
• The shared surface arrangement by plot 123 must be for a 
maximum of 20 properties; currently there are 15 taking access 
from the proposed shared surface within this development. The 
other side of the street falling outside the red-line has not yet been 
planned; this will require addressing on the revised plan as is 
currently unacceptable. 
 
• The parking along this shared surface in the bullet point above 
by plot 23 must be addressed as no more than 4 spaces are 
permitted before a full height kerb is provided. This consists of 2 x 
900mm tapered kerbs and a 900mm dropped kerb which equates 
to 2.7m between parking spaces. 
 
• Tracking is required for a large family car for the two parking 
bays allocated to plot 152. 
 
• The side arm of the turning head by plot 167 extends too far, 
please reduce this arm ensuring there are no more than 5 
properties then taking vehicular access from the private drive. 
This also requires 
addressing for the extended arm of the turning head by plot 194. 
 
• This whole section of private drive by plot 213 is currently 
unacceptable & will require redesigning. A maximum of 5 
properties are permitted to take vehicular access off a private 
drive; there are at least 12 dwellings with allocated parking of this 
private drive.  
 
• The private drive by plot 287 must meet the highway at 90 
degrees.  
 
• Please ensure traffic calming is implemented on sections of the 

Page 23



highway where there is 100m of straight carriageway; this should 
be in the form of a raised table.  
 
• Please note that any trees within private areas are required to be 
2.5m from the highway boundary; any hedges or shrubs should 
be set back 1.0m. 
 
The also comments that the SLRR plan is not acceptable because 
it shows the potential future dualling land either side of the 
carriageway instead of on one side. (Officer Note: The proposed 
design for dualling land either side of the carriageway was 
approved on the basis of LHA agreement under planning refs: 
S/2020/2140/COND; WNS/2021/1623/106CD and 
S/2020/2126/MAR). 
 

Surface Water 
Drainage Team 
(AKA Lead Local 
Flood Authority) 

No comments received to date 

External Funding 
Partnership 

No comments 

Archaeology No comments 

Police Crime 
Prevention 
Design Advisor 

Comments 
Lockable gates, key operable from 
both sides required at the entrance to all alleyways. 
Combining bin and cycle storage in one unit is not acceptable. 
(Officer Note: bin and cycle storage are in separate buildings for 
Gateway Building 1 and the store building for Gateway Building 2 
has separate sections for bikes and bins)   
The hedging shown around the LEAP will require a maintenance 
agreement to ensure it is maintained at or below 
1 metre in height to maintain surveillance. 

Sport England No comments 

Stagecoach Comments  
Recommends that additional pedestrian routes are provided to 
connect residents to bus stops on the SLRR 
(Officer Note: a pedestrian connection to the bus stop on SLRR 
has been added) 

NHS 
Northamptonshire 
CCG 

Comments  
Request financial contribution towards Primary Care. 
(Officer Note: This has already been agreed under the S106 for 
the hybrid permission) 

Northants and 
Beds Wildlife 
Trust 

No comments received to date 

Strategic Housing No objection 
 
Original Submission: 
The affordable housing mix is not acceptable and an alternative 
mix has been recommended for the applicant to consider which 
better reflects the housing need for the area. 
 
The tenure split of the 52 affordable housing units proposed has 
not been provided. There should be 26 rented units and 26 low-
cost home ownership units. 

Page 24



 
The accommodation schedule/site layout plan to be provided will 
also need to show the tenure of each of the affordable housing 
plots. 
 
Amended Proposal: 
No objection. 

Planning Policy No objection 

Ecology Officer Comments  
Makes a number of specific recommendations about the removal 
of some non-native plant species from the landscaping proposals 
and replacement with more appropriate alternative species. 

Environmental 
Protection 

No objection  
No concerns on the basis that safeguarding conditions have been 
applied to the outline permission 

Building Control No objection  
All surface water to soakaway, fire vehicle access to be 
ascertained, Radon protection to be ascertained 

Recreation and 
Leisure 

Comments  
Makes recommendations for footpaths and soft landscaping and 
advises that the LEAP should meet the Fields in Trust standards 

Waste and 
Recycling 

No comments received to date 

 

7. RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 
 

Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of 
writing this report.  

 
7.1. There have been 4 responses raising the following objections/comments on the Original 

Submission (relevant planning considerations paraphrased): 
 

 Concern about new footpath connections between the site and St Crispin’s in 
terms of loss of hedge/wildlife corridor and increase in antisocial behaviour; 

 Concern that the Sandy Lane Relief Road will not be completed before this 
development can be implemented resulting in increased traffic congestion on the 
existing highway infrastructure; 

 Concern about the impact of the development on existing local infrastructure: 
highways; primary health care; detrimental to wildlife/loss of habitats/hedges;  

 Concern about noise, vibration, dust, nuisance during construction; 

 Plans do not show an acoustic barrier between the development and existing, 
adjacent business uses/concern about noise nuisance for future occupiers of the 
development;  

 Security fencing is required for existing, neighbouring business uses; 

 Loss of light; 

 Delivery/HGV/customer access for existing businesses needs to be considered; 

 Loss of passing trade for the existing business and request for signage; 

 Consider that the siting of public open space, local centre and school should be 
close to the businesses; 

 Request for mature tree planting to be provided along the eastern site boundary 
to screen the new development from existing houses; 

 
 

Page 25



7.2. There has been 1 further letter of objection from a neighbour raising the following new 
objections/comments on the Amended Proposal (relevant planning considerations 
paraphrased): 
 

 Concern that the proposals would result in the loss of drainage ditches that 
currently exist on either side of the existing Sandy Lane thereby creating surface 
water flooding; 

 Concern that the access needs of the businesses have not been taken into 
account; 

 Concern about loss of hedges; 

 Request for grass verge adjacent to property or redesign of road layout to allow 
fence; 

 Request for advanced directional signage for the businesses  
 

8. APPRAISAL  
 
Principle of Development 
 

8.1. This application is a detailed reserved matters proposal and the principle of the 
development has already been approved under hybrid planning permission 
S/2016/1324/EIA in June 2020.  The site lies on land allocated for development within 
the LPP1 under Policy N9A (Norwood Farm/Upton Lodge).  The approved Norwood 
Farm Design Code also sets out agreed parameters for the development.   

8.2. This application can only examine the detailed matters submitted and the principle 
cannot be reassessed here.  

Conclusion 

8.3. Hybrid planning permission has recently, already been granted for this development 
where it was determined that the development was acceptable in principle.  This 
application only seeks approval of details pertaining to this permission and therefore the 
principle of the development cannot be reassessed at this time. 

Design and Layout 

Policy Context 

8.4. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires new development to use a design led approach to 
ensure that developments are compatible with their surroundings.  In this case a Design 
Code has been agreed for Norwood Farm which has assessed local character and sets 
out the general design rules to be applied to detailed schemes for the various Phases 
within the development.  Matters not covered by this Design Code would be considered 
against the South Northamptonshire Design Guide. 

Assessment 

8.5. The general layout of the streets and blocks are consistent with the approved Land Use 
Parameter Plan of the hybrid permission and the Regulating Plan within the Design 
Code. Phase 1 and part of 1B is divided up into a series of residential blocks and open 
spaces by Primary Streets, Secondary Streets and Side/Shared Surface Streets.  The 
dwellings are predominantly located around the perimeter of each block with frontages 
facing outwards thereby creating good surveillance of the public realm/streets and 
private and secure rear gardens within the centre of the blocks.  This aligns with good 
urban design principles and the Design Code. 

Page 26



8.6. Most dwellings are located in a ‘back-to-back’ arrangement (i.e. rear garden boundary to 
rear garden boundary) which will help to ensure that rear gardens are more secure, 
private and tranquil and create active, well overlooked and safer streets and public 
spaces.  Public facing boundary enclosures (including those around parking courts) will 
be brick walls to create a better quality of development which will enhance the character 
and appearance of the scheme.  At the time of writing this report there were still a number 
of parking courts with fencing proposed as the means of enclosure but this is anticipated 
to be resolved by the applicants. 

8.7. The proposals include approximately 20 different house types with some of these having 
variations (different architectural detailing and facing materials) in order to respond to 
the character areas and the type of frontages set out in the approved Design Code.  The 
Design Code divides the development into 3 main Character Areas (CA): Urban Core 
(UC); Upton Lodge (UL) and Rural Edge (RE).  Phase 1 and part of Phase 1B lies entirely 
within the Urban Core CA. 

8.8. The Urban Core CA takes its cues from Upton and allows for both contemporary or 
traditional interpretations with a more urban emphasis.  This CA covers the majority of 
the SUE and for this reason it includes 3 further frontage responses: Sandy Lane Relief 
Road; Primary Street and Park.  This application for Phase 1 and part Phase 1B includes 
all three types of frontage.  To provide some additional distinctiveness the proposals also 
include an Urban Core Edge to address the eastern edge of the development where it 
adjoins the existing landscape buffer for residential development at St Crispin’s. 

8.9. Park Frontage   The proposals include a Park Frontage to Berrywood Road where the 
Design Code also indicates the use of Key Buildings to act as a landmark and to 
distinguish the gateway/entrance to Norwood Farm SUE.  To address this the frontage 
utilises two large gateway buildings which would provide 1 and 2 bed flats.  Their design 
takes contemporary references from Upton and more traditional vernacular and by 
utilising traditional facing materials of natural stone and brick these would harmonise with 
a number of more traditional style dwellings faced in the same materials which would 
comprise this frontage.  The flats would be provided with shared bin and cycle stores 
and car parking would be predominantly within semi-private parking courts.  This is all 
consistent with the aspirations of the approved Norwood Farm Design Code. 

8.10. Sandy Lane Relief Road Frontage   This frontage response is characterised by a 
variety of house types (Flat over Garage (FoG) units, semi-detached and terraced, 2 and 
3 bed dwellings of 2 or 3 storeys) all of a contemporary style.  Facing materials would be 
red brick with grey roof tiles and incorporate modern timber cladding and feature 
brickwork detailing.  The majority of houses along this frontage would have on plot 
parking on driveways to the sides of the dwellings.  This is consistent with the parameters 
set out in the Design Code. 

8.11. Urban Core and Urban Core Edge   The majority of the site would be within the Urban 
Core CA and this applies to the central areas within the development which are mainly 
accessed via secondary/side streets and therefore less visible/public.  The architectural 
style is predominantly traditional (interspersed with some more simple and contemporary 
detailed units). The houses along the primary streets within the UC would be discernible 
through the use of railings to the fronts, a predominance of regularly spaced detached 
houses with parking to the side (not frontage) and a formal building line.  The regular use 
of rendered plots will also help to make the primary streets distinctive. Secondary 
streets/shared streets within the UC will feature open fronts, more common use of 
frontage parking, more semi-detached and terraced houses which would be less 
regularly spaced and have an informal building line.  The majority of plots will be faced 
in brick.   

Page 27



8.12. The UC Edge would be of a traditional and suburban style.  It would be discernible from 
other secondary streets/shared streets within the development by utilising more spaced 
out, larger, detached houses with open fronts and side parking and a less rigid building 
line.  About 25% of the houses on this frontage would be faced in natural stone.  These 
approaches are consistent with the Design Code. 

8.13. Whilst the majority of the house types and detailing are in line with the Design Code there 
are a number of detailed design matters (such as the siting of chimneys and the 
size/proportions of windows) relating to some plots which need to be addressed by the 
applicant.  These matters are relatively minor and officers are confident these can be 
resolved. 

Conclusion 

8.14. Assuming that the detailed design of some plots can be revised and boundary enclosures 
for the parking courts are all amended to screen walls, the proposed layout, house types 
and density would be consistent with the approved hybrid permission and Design Code 
parameters.  If the recommended amendments are made Officers would be satisfied that 
Phase 1 and part of Phase 1B would create an attractive living environment for a new 
community and be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the area. 

Density and Mix of House Types 

Policy 

8.15. Policy H1 of LPP1 requires housing developments to provide for a mix of house types, 
sizes and tenures and to cater for the needs of older people and vulnerable groups.  It 
also states that developments within the SUEs should achieve minimum average 
densities of 35 dwellings per hectare.  

Assessment 

8.16. Density Taking account of the net developable area (NDA) in accordance with 
paragraph 9.13 of LPP1 the density of this Phase comes out at approximately 40.8 dph 
(dwellings per hectare).  As this phase is adjacent to existing residential areas in 
Northampton and will not have a rural edge or need to provide any large infrastructure 
elements it is considered that this higher density is needed to help achieve the overall 
aim of 35 dph for Norwood Farm.  This is because other phases will have a lower density 
to take account of their needing to harmonise with adjoining rural areas and open spaces. 
For example, the recently approved Phase 1A had a density of 33.26 dph (based on the 
NDA) which resulted from its having to sensitively address neighbouring open 
countryside and amenity spaces and provide large SUDs attenuation ponds. 

8.17. The Urban Core CA (which should typically achieve 35-40dph) applies to the entirety of 
these Phases and provides an opportunity to increase the overall density of dwellings 
across the SUE.  It is therefore considered that the proposed development is consistent 
with the aims of Policy H1 of the LPP1. 

8.18. Mix  The proposals include 1 bed (approx. 1%), 2 bed (approx. 21%), 3 bed (approx. 
52%), 4 bed (approx. 24%) and 5 bed (approx. 2%) accommodation.  These are provided 
as single storey, 2 storeys and 2.5 storeys and include small blocks of flats, terraced 
houses, semi-detached houses, maisonettes and detached houses.  The dwellings are 
primarily 2 storey detached and semi-detached houses but there are also a smaller 
number of terraces, small blocks of flats and flats over garage units (FOGs). 

Page 28



8.19. It is considered that Phase 1 and part Phase 1B will incorporate a good range of different 
dwelling options accordance with Development Plan policies. 

Conclusion 

8.20. The proposed mix of house types and density of development are consistent with the 
Development Plan, the approved hybrid permission and the Design Code parameters.  
Officers are satisfied that Phase 1 and part Phase 1B would create an appropriate 
selection of housing opportunities to meet the needs of the area and make the best use 
of the land whilst remaining sympathetic to the character and appearance of the area 
and delivering the necessary infrastructure. 

Affordable Housing 

8.21. Being located in the Northampton Related Development Area (NRDA) Policies H2 of the 
LPP1 and LH8 of the LPP2 require 35% of new dwellings to be affordable.  In this case 
a Viability Appraisal was undertaken during the consideration of the hybrid application 
and it was found that the development would not be viable if 35% of the new dwellings 
to be provided were affordable but the scheme could deliver 15% in the first phases (up 
to 800 dwellings) and then 17.5% in the later phases (from 800 to 1900 dwellings).  This 
is subject to review after 800 dwellings have been provided and if the viability of the 
scheme has improved a higher percentage of affordable dwellings can be secured.  The 
hybrid is approved on this basis and these terms are set out in the S106 agreement. 

8.22. The proposals represent the first 788 dwellings of the development (i.e. 349 dwellings 
plus the 439 dwellings already approved for Phase 1A) and therefore the agreed 
percentage of affordable dwellings to be provided is 15%.  This application includes 52 
affordable units (split 50/50 between affordable rent and shared ownership) which 
complies with the agreement. 

8.23. Strategic Housing colleagues have no objections to the proposals. 

Conclusion 

8.24. The development complies with the planning obligation for the outline planning 
permission and Strategic Housing do not object to the proposed scheme. The 
development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of the affordable housing 
provision. 

Highways and Parking 

Policy Context 

8.25. Policy SS2 of LPP2 requires developments to have a safe and suitable means of access.  
The adopted Northamptonshire Parking Standards also applies to this development. 

Assessment 

8.26. The road layout proposals for Phase 1 and part Phase 1B include a hierarchy of streets 
which follow the approved Regulating Plan and Streets Typology Plan in the Design 
Code.  The main site access (approved under the hybrid) will be from Berrywood Road 
through the construction of a new roundabout that will also serve Weggs Farm Road.  
This will connect to new Primary Streets that will run through the middle of this Phase 
and ultimately link through to the proposed SLRR and to later phases (Phase 2A and 
Phase 3).  The applicants have added a pedestrian link to the south-west of the site to 
connect the development to the bus stop which will be provided on the new SLRR. 

Page 29



8.27. As detailed in Section 6 ‘Response to Consultation’ above the LHA gave detailed advice 
on a number of changes that needed to be made to the highway layout proposals and at 
the time of writing this report the applicants were amending their drawings to address 
these matters. 

8.28. With regard to parking provision Phase 1 and part Phase 1B would provide an adequate 
number of spaces for residents using a variety of parking solutions in accordance with 
the Adopted Northamptonshire Parking Standards SPD and Design Code.  Each 
dwelling would benefit from off-road parking either on a driveway to the side of the 
building (majority), or to the front OR within a small parking court.  The number of parking 
spaces being provided excludes most garages (which are to be provided for some 
dwellings) except 1 space can be counted towards the total within a double garage. 

8.29. In terms of visitor parking 87 spaces are proposed on street for all street types with some 
dedicated bays off the main carriageway in accordance with Northamptonshire Parking 
Standards. A number of the visitor spaces are proposed on the carriageway close to the 
entrance to the existing businesses and along this secondary road which will give 
access.  These spaces will need to be relocated to avoid conflict with the accesses and/or 
the road will need to be made 2.0m wider where spaces are proposed on this street.  The 
applicants were revising their plans at the time of writing this report. 

Conclusion 

8.30. Assuming that the above concerns relating to highways and parking can be satisfactorily 
addressed the development would accord with the adopted Northamptonshire Parking 
Standards and the development plan and would not be detrimental to highway safety.  If 
these matters cannot be adequately resolved it will be necessary to consider if the 
development is acceptable in highway safety terms and, if not, possibly recommend a 
refusal on these grounds. 

Open Space and LEAP 
 
Policy Context 
 

8.31. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires developments to incorporate suitable landscape 
treatment.  The approved Design Code includes a Section on Green Infrastructure 
containing Landscape and Play Strategies. 

 
Assessment 

 
8.32. Phase 1 and part Phase 1B includes a number of areas of amenity public open space at 

its periphery (particularly to the eastern and northern boundaries) which will act as a non-
vehicular movement corridor connecting Norwood Farm to the existing residential areas 
of New Duston and St Crispin’s and to the proposed Northampton West SUE to the north-
west. These areas will also provide an attenuation pond and create new habitats for 
wildlife. Some changes will need to be made to the soft landscaping to remove non-
native species in the interests of enhancing biodiversity. Phase 1B also incorporates a 
LEAP park at its centre. 
 

8.33. The majority of the amenity open space will be planted with meadow grass and native 
species trees.  Native species tree and shrub planting will primarily be used at the 
periphery of the site and more ornamental shrub and hedge plants will be used within 
the site and as front boundary enclosures for dwellings.  Different plant mixes/trees will 
be utilised in front boundaries for different areas/streets which will help to make the 
development more legible and differentiate between the hierarchy of roads. 

 

Page 30



8.34. Low-level, soft landscaping is proposed to reduce the visual impact of frontage parking 
within the street scene.  Planting beds should be provided between each group of no 
more than 4 adjoining bays as required by the Design Code although at the time of writing 
this report there were a number of examples which did not adhere to this.  The applicants 
have been asked to amend their landscaping plans to address this.   

 
8.35. The applicants have also been asked to provide some additional landscaping to soften 

the appearance of the bike/bin stores to serve Gateway Buildings 1 and 2.  An additional 
planting bed and the use of climbing plants for the rear and side walls of these structures 
would reflect the aspirations of the Design Code. 

 
8.36. Towards the centre of the site (and located in accordance with the Regulating Plan and 

Play Strategy in the Design Code) a Local Equipped Area of Play is to be constructed.  
Details of the play equipment are considered to be acceptable and accord with the 
requirements of the S106 agreement.  

 
8.37. Footpath connections to link the site to Berrywood Road and St Crispin’s are proposed 

but a reduction in the number of connections has been recommended by Officers to limit 
the number of new breaks to be made to the existing hedge along the eastern site 
boundary.  This is in the interests of preserving as much of the existing wildlife corridor 
as possible.  At the time of writing this report the applicants had been asked to amend 
their plans.    
 
Conclusion 
 

8.38. The landscaping proposals are largely consistent with the Development Plan and the 
Norwood Farm Design Code.  Subject to the aforementioned amendments requested by 
Officers the proposals would be considered acceptable. 

Surface Water and Foul Drainage 
 
Policy Context 
 

8.39. LPP1 policy BN7 requires appropriate flood risk assessment to be completed and for 
development not to result in an increased risk of flooding to existing or proposed 
properties. Policy BN7A of the LPP1 requires new developments to have adequate 
and water supply and wastewater infrastructure. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 
requires development to be adequately serviced with infrastructure and to consider flood 
risk. 
 
Assessment 
 

8.40. A site specific flood risk assessment (FRA) was submitted and approved as part of 
the hybrid permission. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have offered no comments 
on this application at the time of writing this report but there are a number of conditions 
attached to the hybrid permission (such as the submission and approval of the surface 
water drainage scheme prior to commencement) which will need to be agreed with the 
LLFA under condition discharge applications.  Therefore, it is considered that these 
matters are adequately controlled by existing conditions. 
 

8.41. The principles of the waste/foul drainage were approved as detailed in the FRA with the 
hybrid permission and there are conditions attached to the hybrid permission which cover 
this matter. 
 
 Conclusion 

Page 31



 
8.42. The surface water and foul drainage details can be agreed with the LLFA and Anglian 

Water as separate condition discharge applications relating back to the hybrid planning 
permission and therefore the development would accord with the development plan 
policies. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 

8.43. Policy SS2 of the LPP2 requires new developments to have good standards of amenity 
for future occupiers and existing occupiers of neighbouring properties.  
 
Assessment 
 

8.44. Phase 1 and part Phase 1B does not directly adjoin any existing dwellings situated in the 
neighbouring residential areas of St Crispin’s or New Duston.  There is one residence off 
Sandy Lane (No. 139 which is also the Sandy Lane Nurseries business) which will share 
boundaries with the development.  This house is a 1 ½ storey bungalow with rooms in 
the roof and a very shallow rear garden (most of the garden is to either side of the house).  
Plots 137 and 138 are currently proposed to be located only circa 13.5m to 16.5m from 
the rear elevation of 139 Sandy Lane and this does not comply with the minimum 
separation distance standard of 18.0m set out in our Design Guide.  The applicants have 
been asked to increase the separation distance between the back of the existing dwelling 
and the proposed plots to at least 18.0m. 

 
8.45. The separation distances between the proposed dwellings comply with the standards set 

out in the Design Guide.  Whilst there are a few examples of proposed dwellings with a 
rear garden of less than 9.0m long most of these are corner plots and they are typically 
wider than many other gardens.  Despite there being several examples of under-sized 
gardens Officers are satisfied that, on balance, that the proposed development would 
provide adequate amenity standards for future occupiers.  

 
Conclusion 
 

8.46. Phase 1 and part Phase 1B accords with the approved planning permission and 
Norwood Farm Design Code.  If the development is amended as set out in paragraph 
8.44 Officers consider that it would not result in any serious loss of residential amenity 
for existing residents and that an acceptable living environment would be created for 
future occupiers. 
 

9. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1. CIL is payable on this development of circa £2,128,093 before any relief is granted. 
 

10. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

10.1. The principle of this development has already been established by the hybrid permission 
and the planning balance in that case obviously came down in favour of granting 
permission. The proposed development would deliver 349 new homes, including 52 
affordable dwellings, on a site allocated in the LPP1 for this purpose.  This must be 
afforded significant weight.  Considerable weight should also be given to this scheme on 
the basis that it would provide some key green infrastructure in the form of public amenity 
space and an equipped children’s play park.  This development will contribute towards 
the implementation of the Sandy Lane Relief Road which is a critical piece of road 
infrastructure that will allow further residential developments (e.g. Northampton West 
SUE) to be delivered as set out in the LPP1.    

Page 32



 
10.2. The details of this residential phase accord with the extant hybrid planning permission 

and the parameters agreed in the approved Norwood Farm Design Guide and are largely 
in compliance with the Development Plan.  The applicants still need to provide amended 
plans to address some detailed design, amenity, parking and ecology issues but 
assuming these can all be addressed to the satisfaction of Officers it is considered that 
there would be no sustainable reasons for refusing this application and the benefits of 
the scheme justify granting permission. 

 

 

11. RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 

DELEGATE TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR GROWTH, CLIMATE AND 
REGENERATION TO GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO: 
 
1. CONDITIONS (AND ANY AMENDMENTS TO THOSE CONDITIONS AS DEEMED 

NECESSARY); AND  
2. RECEIPT OF SATISFACTORY AMENDMENTS REGARDING THE DESIGN, 

LAYOUT AND LANDSCAPING; 
 

IF THE DESIGN, LAYOUT AND LANDSCAPING ARE NOT SATISFACTORILY 
RESOLVED BY 21 JULY 2022 AND NO EXTENSION OF TIME HAS BEEN AGREED 
BETWEEN THE PARTIES IT IS FURTHER RECOMMENDED THAT THE ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR FOR GROWTH, CLIMATE AND REGENERATION IS GIVEN 
DELEGATED AUTHORITY TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION ON THE FOLLOWING 
GROUNDS (FINAL WORDING DELEGATED TO ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR 
GROWTH, CLIMATE AND REGENERATION): 

 Unacceptable design in conflict with the approved Norwood Farm Design 

Code and/or the South Northants Design Guide and/or 

 Loss of privacy for existing residential occupiers and unacceptable levels 

of privacy for future occupiers and/or; 

 Harm to highway safety and/or; 

 Harm to wildlife/biodiversity  

 
CONDITIONS 

 

TIME LIMITS AND GENERAL IMPLEMENTATION CONDITIONS 
 
 Compliance with Approved Plans 
 
1. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete 

accordance with the approved plans and details unless a non-material or minor 
material amendment is approved by the Local Planning Authority under the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015 (as amended).  The approved plans and details are:   

  
 Plans 

Site Location Plan Drawing Ref: 22867 204 dated January 2022; 
Detailed Planning Layout Drawing Ref: NOR/DPL/01 Rev B received 18 May 
2022; 

Page 33



Affordable Housing Plan Drawing ref: NOR/AHP/001 Rev dated May 2022; 
Adoptable Road Plan Drawing Ref: 22867 201 Rev B dated 01 February 2022; 
Parking Plan Drawing Ref: NW/PAP/01 received 18 May 2022; 
Cycle Storage Plan Drawing Ref: NW/CSP/001 Rev B dated May 2022; 
Swept Path Analysis Drawing Ref: 22867 309 Rev C dated 20 June 2022; 
SLRR Dual Carriageway Plan Drawing Ref: NOR-SLRR/DCP Rev A dated May 
2022; 
Materials Layout Drawing Ref: NW/MAT/01 Rev B dated May 2022; 
Boundary Treatments Plan Drawing Ref: NW/MAT/001 Rev B dated May 2022; 
Refuse Plan Drawing Ref: NW/RP/001 Rev B dated May 2022; 

 
House Types Plans and Elevations 
Berrywood Park House Types Pack received 07 June 2022; 
SLRR Frontage House Types Pack received 18 May 2022; 
Urban Core Edge House Types Pack received 07 June 2022; 
Urban Core House Types Pack received 18 May 2022; 
Garages and Bin Stores Pack received 07 June 2022; 
Street Scenes Drawing Rev A dated May 2022; 

 
Landscaping Plans 
Public Open Space Proposals Drawing Ref: edp7448_d001 Rev B Sheets 1 to 8 
dated 10 June 2022; 
On Plot Landscape Proposals Drawing Ref: edp7448_d002 Rev B Sheets 1 to 12 
dated 10 June 2022; 
Play Space Design Drawing Ref: edp7448_d003 Rev A dated 03 February 2022; 

 
Drainage Details 
Non-Technical Drainage Summary Report by JPP Consulting Ltd Ref: TL/NR/L-
001-22867 dated 01 February 2022; 
SuDS and Surface Water Drainage Strategy Drawing Ref: 22867 200 Rev B 
dated 01 February 2022; 
Longitudinal Sections Drawing Ref: 22867 203 Rev A dated 27 January 2022. 

  
 Reason : To clarify the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
 CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL 

OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE SPECIFIC CONSTRUCTION 
WORKS TAKE PLACE 

 
 Materials Samples 
 
2. Samples of the materials and finishes (including the timber cladding) to be used 

in the external walls and roofs of the dwellings and buildings shall be made 
available on site for inspection by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first 
use of those facing materials. The development shall thereafter be completed in 
accordance with the materials which have been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

  

Page 34



 Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the 
locality and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development in accordance with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan Policy and Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework 

  
 Natural Stone Sample Panel 
 
3. The external walls of the stone faced building(s) and dwelling(s) hereby 

approved shall be constructed in natural ironstone which shall be laid, dressed, 
coursed and pointed using a lime based mortar with brushed or rubbed joints in 
accordance with a sample panel (minimum 1 metre squared in size) which shall 
be constructed on site to be inspected and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the stonework is commenced.  The sample panel 
shall be constructed in a position that is protected and readily accessible for 
viewing in good natural daylight from a distance of 3 metres. The panel shall be 
retained on site for the duration of the construction contract. 

  
 Reason : To ensure that the materials are appropriate to the appearance of the 

locality and to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed 
development in accordance with Policies SS2 of the South Northamptonshire 
Local Plan Policy and Government guidance contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework 

 
 Colour Scheme for Doors 
 
4. Notwithstanding the approved Materials Layout Drawing Ref: NW/MAT/01 Rev 

B dated May 2022 all front doors and garage doors shall be finished in 
accordance with a colour scheme which shall have been previously submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance 

with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2. 
  
 Details of Sub-Station/Gas Converter 
 
5. Plans and elevation drawings of the sub-station and gas converter building, 

including details of the facing materials and landscaping, to a scale of not less 
than 1:100 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of that work. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance 

with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan Policy and 
Government guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 CONDITIONS REQUIRING LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY WRITTEN APPROVAL 

OR TO BE COMPLIED WITH BY DEVELOPER BEFORE OCCUPATION  

Page 35



 
 Access and Parking 
 
6. The proposed access, parking and turning facilities shall be provided in 

accordance with the approved plans before first occupation of the dwellings 
hereby permitted. The access, parking and turning facilities shall thereafter be 
retained for use in connection with the development for those purposes only. 

  
 Reason : In the interests of highway safety, to ensure the provision of adequate 

off-street car parking and turning to comply with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance in Section 12 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Boundary Enclosures 

 
7.  The approved boundary enclosures (including acoustic walls/fencing), in respect 

of those dwellings which are intended to be enclosed/screened, shall be erected 
prior to the first occupation of those dwellings. 

 
Reason : To ensure the satisfactory appearance of the completed development 
and to safeguard the privacy and amenities of the occupants of the existing and 
proposed dwellings in accordance with Policy SS2 of the South 
Northamptonshire Local Plan and Government guidance contained within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 CONDITIONS TO BE COMPLIED WITH AT ALL TIMES  
 
 Meter Boxes 
 
8. Any electricity or gas supply meter housings to be located on the external 

elevations of the buildings hereby approved shall be sited on the side or rear 
elevations of the buildings and shall be coloured to match the facing material 
against which it will be sited unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason : In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the area in accordance 

with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan. 
 
 PD Rights Removed for Means of Enclosure to Fronts  
 
9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Part 2, Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or 
any order revoking or re-enacting or amending that order) no gate, fence, wall 
or other means of enclosure shall be erected, constructed or placed in front of 
the front wall of any dwelling and the highway or the flank wall of a dwelling at 
the junction of two roads, at any time, without the prior express planning 
permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

  

Page 36



Reason : In order to retain the open character of the development and area in 
accordance with Policy SS2 of the South Northamptonshire Local Plan. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Application Number:  C/2019/0750/1 
 
                   Parish: Daventry West 

Town/Village: Daventry 
 
Site Area: 50.8ha 
 
Grid Location: SP 261543 455807 
 
Map Scale: 1:2,220 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number:  C/2019/0750/1 
 

Location:   Land at Malabar Farm, Staverton Road, Daventry  
 

Proposal: Discharge of Condition 8 (Design Code) of Outline application 

(all matters reserved except principal means of access to 
highways) for a mixed-use development including up to 1100 
dwellings, a 2 form entry primary school, local centre (A1, A2, 
A3, A4, A5 & D1/D2 including C2/C3 facilities, associated 
landscaping and demolition works –  

 

 

Applicant:    Crest Nicholson and Spitfire Homes    
  
Agent:    Nexus Planning            
 

Case Officer:   Rebecca Grant  
 

 

Ward:     Daventry West   
     

 
Reason for Referral:  Affects Sustainable Urban Extension 
 
Committee Date:  11/07/2022    
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: AGREE TO DISCHARGE THE DESIGN CODE CONDITION 
 
Proposal  
Application to discharge condition 8 of the outline planning permission for Daventry South 
West Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) which seeks to agree the Design Code for the 
development. 
 
Consultations 
No consultees have raised objections to the application. 

 
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application: 

 Daventry Town Council, Local Highway Authority, Developer Contributions, 
Environmental Protection, Crime Prevention Design Advisor, Conservation Officer 
and Landscape Officer.  

 
No consultees are in support of the application. 
 
Conclusion  
The proposed Daventry South West Design Code is consistent with the outline planning 
permission and represents a logical progression from the associated Masterplan and Design 
and Access Statement.  The applicants are working with officers to amend and revise the 
code to produce a set of guidelines which should enable developers to design appropriate, 
detailed, reserved matters planning applications for this SUE.  Condition 8 of the planning 
permissions can be discharged subject to receiving amendments to address the outstanding 
issues. . 

Page 41



 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
MAIN REPORT  
 

1. APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  
 
1.1 The site comprises of approximately 50 hectares of predominately agricultural land and 

is located on the south western edge of the Daventry urban area. 
 

1.2 The site is enclosed along the northern eastern boundary by the A45 beyond which is 
the existing residential area and to the north by Staverton Road which is closed to 
through traffic following the construction of the A45. The A361 runs along parts of the 
south east boundary with agricultural fields and the Badby Park care home located 
beyond. Badby House (Our Lady of Passion Monastery) is a Grade II listed building. The 
farm complex of Malabar Farm lies adjacent to the A45 and is accessed from the A361. 

 

1.3 The topography of the site has steep gradients falling in a northern and easterly direction. 
The agricultural fields comprise large parcels which are separated by hedgerows. 

 

1.4 To the north west of the site is the remainder of the emerging HO1 allocation under 
separate land ownership (planning application reference DA/19/1000). Beyond the wider 
allocation, on the opposite side of the A425 is Staverton Sports Park. Daventry town 
centre is located approximately 2/3km to the north of the site and is linked via the existing 
footbridge over the A45. To the south is Staverton Wood and Oak Spinney with green 
fields being to the west. Long Buckby railway station lies approximately 8km (as the crow 
flies) from the site and provides services to London Euston and Birmingham New Street. 
Within 2km of the site are a range of shops and services. 

 
1.5 The site comprises a significant proportion of Policy H08 allocation for the Daventry 

South West Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) contained in Countryside and Local 
Plan (Part 2). 

 

2. CONSTRAINTS 
 

2.1. There are no designated archaeological heritage assets (scheduled monuments) within 
the site or within a 1km radius.  There are three scheduled monuments within a 3km 
radius, these comprise of Borough Hill, Burnt Walls earthworks and Remains of a moated 
monastic retreat house, manorial courthouse and Inn at Badby.  
 

2.2. There are three statutory designated sites within 2km of the site.  These are Badby Wood 
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Daventry Country Park Local Nature Reserve 
(LNR) and Daventry Reservoir and Country Park LNR.  All three are at approximately 
1.95km distance from the proposed site. 

 
2.3. There are twelve Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) within 2km of the site.  One is located within 

the site, and a further three are located directly adjacent to the site boundary.  These are 
designated at the County level of importance.  

 

Page 42



2.4. A further fifteen potential wildlife sites (pLWS) are present within 2km of the site.  These 
are sites ‘either known or thought to be higher biodiversity level than the average 
countryside but have yet to be confirmed to be of LWS standard’. 

 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 

3.1. In November 2021 outline planning permission was granted for up to 1,100 dwellings, a 
primary school, a mixed-use Local Centre (Uses A1-A5, D1 and D2), together with 
associated public open space, landscaping, highways, sustainable drainage systems, 
and all ancillary infrastructure works.  The current application seeks to discharge 
condition 8 of this permission which requires the submission and approval of a Design 
Code before any development commences.  The applicant has submitted a site-wide 
Design Code which will cover all future phases of the permission. 
 

3.2. The condition requires that the Design Code should be broadly in accordance with the 
submitted Design and Access Statement and should include, where relevant, details and 
guidance in respect of the following matters: 
 
(a) Residential Areas: Including information on character areas, densities, block types, 
building types, clustering of affordable housing, the palette of materials, architectural 
details, building heights, building lines and boundary treatments; 
 
(b) Local Centre: Including Information on design, form, character, scale, public realm 
and palette of materials; 
 
(c) Streets: including information on the hierarchy, nature and form of streets, cycleways 
and footways; cross sections; character; materials, permeability and street landscaping 
where possible; 
 
(d) Non-Vehicular Movement: Including information on the framework and hierarchy for 
pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders, rights of way, desire lines, and connectivity, 
materials, landscaping and surveillance; 
 
(f) Parking: Information on car, lorry and cycle parking standards for residential, 
employment, commercial, leisure and schools; 
 
(g) Landscape: including information on landscaped areas and green infrastructure 
including: amenity spaces; public open space; parks and play areas, street furniture; 
conservation of flora and fauna; and biodiversity mitigation measures; 
 
(h) Drainage: details of surface and foul water drainage; 
 
(i) Crime Prevention: Information on all residential, commercial, employment, leisure and 
public areas; 
 
(j) Fire Hydrants: A scheme for the location of (on average) one fire hydrant for every 50 
dwellings; 
 
(k) Electricity Sub Stations: A scheme for the location of electricity sub stations where 
necessary. 
 
The condition states that the development should be carried out in accordance with the 
principles of the approved Design Code.  Therefore, it is anticipated that all future 
applications for phases within this development should follow the guidance and rules set 
out in the approved Design Code. 

Page 43



 
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 

4.1. The following planning history is considered relevant to the current proposal:  
 

Application Ref. Proposal Decision 

DA/2019/0750 
 

Outline application (all matters reserved except 
principal means of access to highways) for a 
mixed-use development including up to 1100 
dwellings, a 2 form entry primary school, local 
centre (A1, A2, A3, A4, A5 & D1/D2 including 
C2/C3 facilities, associated landscaping and 
demolition works. 
 

APPROVED 

DA/2019/1000 Construction of 140 dwellings and associated 
infrastructure including vehicular access from the 
A425, provision of public open space and green 
infrastructure including leap, demolition of 
Drayton Lodge and associated outbuildings and 
provision of drainage infrastructure (Bellway site) 
 

APPROVED 

 

5. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
Statutory Duty 
 

5.1. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Development Plan 
 

5.2. The Development Plan comprises the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local 
Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning Committee on 
15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy framework for the 
District to 2029, the adopted South Northants and Daventry Local Plans (Part 2) and 
adopted Neighbourhood Plans.  The relevant planning policies of the statutory 
Development Plan are set out below: 
 
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (LPP1) 
 

5.3. The relevant polices of the LPP1 are: 
 
• SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• S1 – Distribution of Development 

• S3 - Scale and Distribution of Development 

• S5 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 

• S6 – Monitoring and Review 

• S7 – Provision of Jobs 

• S8 – Distribution of Jobs 

• S9 – Distribution of Retail Development 

• S10 – Sustainable Development Principles 

• S11 – Low Carbon and Renewable Energy 

Page 44



• C1 – Changing Behaviour and Modal Shift 

• C2 – New Developments 

• C3 – Strategic Connections 

• C5 – Enhancing Local and Neighbourhood Connections 

• RC2 – Community Needs 

• H1 – Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings 

• H2 – Affordable Housing 

• H4 – Sustainable Housing 

• BN1 – Green Infrastructure Connections 

• BN2 – Biodiversity 

• BN3 – Woodland Enhancement 

• BN5 – The Historic Environment and Landscape 

• BN7a – Water Supply, Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure 

• BN7 – Flood Risk 

• BN8 – The River Nene Strategic River Corridor 

• BN9 – Planning for Pollution Control 

• BN10 – Ground Instability 

• INF1 – Approach to Infrastructure Delivery 

• INF2 – Contributions to Infrastructure Requirements 

• N4 – Northampton West Sustainable Urban Extension 

 
Settlements and Countryside Local Plan (Part 2) for Daventry (LPP2) 
 

5.4. The relevant policies of the Daventry LPP2 are: 

 H01 – Daventry South West 

 HO8 - Housing Mix and Type 

 ST1 - Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

 EN1 - Landscape 

 ENV3 - Green Wedge 

 ENV4 - Green Infrastructure 

 ENV5 - Biodiversity 

 ENV7 - Historic Environment 

 ENV9 - Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Development 

 ENV10 - Design 

 ENV11 - Local Flood Risk Management 

 CW1 - Health and Wellbeing 

 CW2 - Open Space Requirements 

Material Considerations 
 

5.5. Below is a list of the relevant Material Planning Considerations 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

 EU Habitats Directive 

 Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 

 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

Page 45



 Circular 06/2005 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation) 

 Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”) 

 Equalities Act 2010 (“EA”) 

 Nortoft Study: Planning for the Future of Open Space, Sport and Recreation 

in West Northamptonshire 

6. RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 

Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 
report.  
 

Consultee Name Comment 

Daventry Town 
Council 

No objection  
Due to the technical details submitted, they support the planning 
officer’s advice.  

Local Highway 
Authority 

Observations, no objection  
The principles of the pedestrian and cycle connections, public 
transport strategy, street typologies (including hierarchies), spine 
road types, secondary streets, shared surfaces, private drives, 
district centre and parking standards are all agreed 

Education 
Authority 

Comments  
Raises questions in relation to the approved indicative layout and 
what is now proposed in relation to the supporting road network 
around the school and local centre. 
 
 
The design of the school will be informed by the site in terms of 
layout and will be in accordance with Building Bulletin 103. The 
proposed Design Code would create a significant financial burden 
on its delivery, the cost of which would need to be borne by the 
development and not an additional cost to the Council.  

Daventry 
Environmental 
Protection  

Comments  
Recommends that the applicant applies to discharge any related 
noise conditions before it makes any decisions with regards to site 
layout. 

Crime Prevention 
Design Advisor 

No objection  
No objection to parking and layout.  Note reference to the use of 
bollard lighting and comments that Northants Police do not 
approve the use of bollard lighting.   

Landscape 
Officer 

Comments  
Not wholly convinced by 4.2 Establishing a New Place in terms of 
the sectional growth of a settlement which can be conjecture and 
does not appear to tie into Section 4.3 Character Areas. 
Numbering is confusing and does not correspond easily with the 
character area.   
The strengthening of the boundary around Stepnell Park is noted.  
The strengthening of the boundary is important in terms of 
providing mitigation for views from A425.   
The Tree Planting Strategy can only be used as a guide without 
understanding numbers, specific locations as well as the 
associated shrub and hedge planting.  Not convinced by the zone 
next to Badby House being planted with fruit, foraging and edible 
species given the need for advanced planting.   

Conservation Comments  

Page 46



Officer  Is there sufficient space at the southern edge of the site to 
increase the extent of housing and to accommodation a 
pedestrian cycle route whilst retaining an effective green buffer to 
Badby House? 
Edge Character Area – no real description of the southern rural 
edge/Badby House context.   

 
 
An updated Design Code was submitted and is out to consultation at the time of drafting 
the report.  Members will be updated of consultee comments at the committee meeting. 

 

7. RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 
 

There is no statutory duty to consult on applications to discharge conditions.  In 
accordance with the Council’s protocol only targeted consultations were undertaken with 
consultees and no third parties or neighbours were consulted.  

 
 

8. APPRAISAL  
 

What is a Design Code? 
 

8.1. The MHCLG Planning Policy Guidance on ‘Design: process and tools’ describes design 
codes as “illustrated design requirements that provide specific, detailed parameters for 
the physical development of a site or area” (Paragraph: 008 Ref ID: 26-008-20191001).    

8.2. A design code is a technical delivery document which should serve as a quality 
benchmark that can be applied to the whole development.  Design Codes should be read 
in conjunction with other documents, which set out a clear vision, principles and 
character for the development, such as the Design & Access Statement and Masterplan.  
Codes should develop the design vision and provide a clear set of requirements (the 
codes) to achieve/deliver this vision. The Spatial Masterplan provides the broader place-
based vision, whilst codes interpret and articulate this vision. 

8.3. A design code should not constrain the detailed design solutions for individual phases 
but it should set out a general design approach and aspirations for the provision of a 
number of different character areas across a large development.  The proposed design 
approach should be informed by a character analysis; an appraisal of existing 
development within the vicinity of the site.  The code should include a sufficient variety 
of character areas in order to create distinct places within a large scheme to make the 
development visually interesting and legible.  At the same time, it should also ensure 
consistency in the detailed design for buildings within each area to produce harmonious 
and attractive spaces and neighbourhoods.  

8.4. A design code should also set out rules for how strategic infrastructure will be dealt with 
across the development.  For example, illustrations showing the hierarchy of various 
road types should be included and give minimum/maximum widths and surface 
treatments for the various elements within the highway (carriageway, verge, footpath, 
cycleway etc.).  Examples of other strategic matters which would typically be addressed 
are parking, non-vehicular movement, connectivity, public open space, play areas, the 
local centre, affordable housing, refuse, drainage, crime prevention, utilities, street 
furniture etcetera.  

8.5. On a multi-phased development scheme (such as a SUE) where it is likely that a number 
of different developers will build out various parts of the site, a design code is an 

Page 47



important document in ensuring that the development and its strategic infrastructure is 
delivered in a coherent and harmonious way.  It should provide developers with a ‘guide 
book’ for all future reserved matters applications for the various phases of the SUE which 
would be expected to adhere to the code. 

Daventry South West Design Code 

8.6. Officers from Daventry have been working together with the agents and applicants, to 
agree a Design Code for Daventry South West.  The applicants are in the process of 
addressing the concerns and matters raised by officers and consultees.  Subject to 
addressing the issues raised, the code is considered to be acceptable. The following 
description and assessment of the various sections within the Daventry South West 
Design Code explain how officers have arrived at this view. 

Character Area 

8.7. The character assessment section was revised and expanded to ensure that it provided 
a thorough and accurate appraisal of existing character areas within Northampton and 
surrounding villages.  A section has been included to provide a conclusion to the 
character assessment which states that features will be carried through into the 
development and cohesively add to the urban growth of Daventry Town.  

8.8. The agents have been requested to include a table to summarise the Character Analysis 
to highlight those characteristic to be taken forward into the Design Code.  This approach 
should ensure that development coming forward will be locally distinctive and respectful 
of its context. 

Overarching Design Instructions 

8.9. Overarching Design Instructions will be presented via a Regulating Plan which will show 
where various features and character areas will be located within the development.  At 
the time of drafting the report, the Regulating Plan has not been submitted although 
regular discussions are taking place with the agents.  Members will be updated at the 
Committee meeting.  

8.10. This Regulating Plan should be consistent with the higher-level Masterplan which was 
approved under the outline permission.  This means that the siting of key strategic 
infrastructure such as the accesses, spine road, development parcels, the school and 
local centre, public open spaces, structural planting and sports pitches have been 
brought through from the Masterplan into the Regulating Plan.  The RP provides more 
detail than the MP by also showing the locations of: secondary streets; future access 
points to the approved Bellway site to the north; pedestrian/cycle routes; Neighbourhood 
Equipped Area of Play (NEAP), Local Equipped Areas of Play (LEAP) and Local Areas 
of Play (LAPS); drainage attenuation ponds; keynote spaces; keynote dwellings; and 
character areas. 

Movement Strategy 

8.11. This section sets out the locations of the primary and secondary roads and pedestrian 
and cycle routes.  A set of Street Typologies provides a guide to illustrate how a hierarchy 
of streets will be implemented within the development going from spine roads as highest 
level street type, to loop roads, connecting streets and to mews/private drives at the 
bottom level.  The typologies include diagrams to show typical sections through the 
different road types.  Details of the road speeds, accessibility for buses, widths and 
construction of carriageways, footpath/cycleways and verges are provided.  It also 
includes Parking, a Public Transport Strategy and links to surrounding developments.  

Page 48



8.12. The Parking guidance accords with the adopted Parking SPD for Northamptonshire and 
advocates a wide range of parking solutions that can be applied across the development 
including parking courts.  Whilst Highways and the CPDA have reservations about the 
use of parking courts it has been agreed that these could be used infrequently where 
they are well overlooked and secure and where this would allow a better-quality street 
scene.  Having a wide selection of parking options seeks to reduce the reliance on having 
perpendicular parking immediately in front of dwellings which can be detrimental to 
residential amenity and the street scene.   

8.13. At the time of drafting the report comments from the LHA have not been received.  
Members will be updated at the Committee meeting. The Design Code has however 
been revised to take account of comments from the Local Highway Authority. 

Site Wide Principles 

8.14. The Site Wide Principles cover the following matters which have implications for the 
whole site: project phasing, drainage strategy, affordable housing, accessible/adaptable 
dwellings, crime prevention, utilities strategy, refuse strategy, fire hydrant strategy and 
noise. 

8.15. The Layout Principles comply with the rules of good urban design by seeking to ensure 
a clear distinction between private and public spaces, good surveillance of the public 
realm and the provision of private spaces that are easier to protect from intrusion.  
Similarly, the principles set out in the code are also consistent with national and local 
policies on crime prevention by seeking to have outward facing development blocks with 
active frontages to all public and semi-public spaces; i.e. windows and doors facing onto 
to streets, parking courts, open spaces, footpaths and play areas to provide good 
surveillance.  

8.16. The principles for affordable housing comply with the majority of local policies and 
standards.  Smaller clusters (5 to 15) are proposed in accordance the former DDC’s SPD 
on Affordable Housing. 

8.17. The guidance relating to utilities is considered to be appropriate and will serve as a solid 
basis for the drawing up of detailed reserved matters.  First iterations of the code did not 
provide suitable examples of soft landscaping and screening for electricity sub-stations 
but additional and more appropriate examples were added by the applicants in response 
to officer feedback. 

Character Areas 

8.18. This section of the code breaks the development down into character areas (and sub-
character) and makes specific recommendations for the architectural approach to be 
utilised within each of these areas.  These instructions are based upon the findings of 
the character analysis and the different neighbourhoods and character areas primarily 
take their cues from the closest neighbouring developments where this has been justified 
in the analysis.   

8.19. Four neighbourhoods are proposed:  

Town (urban/mixed use) adjacent to entrance into the development of the A43. 

Core (including the spine road) which links from the town character area and heads south 
and also west. 

District (suburban) which forms a large area fronting the A43 and also the green link. 

Page 49



Edge (green edge) forming the edges of the development facing the wider environment. 

8.20. Ironstone, brick, render and timber cladding with slate effect tiles or smooth, plain tiles 
will be the most commonly used materials (as evidenced by the character analysis). 

8.21. Town (urban/mix use).  Located within the heart of the development, to the west of the 
roundabout off the A43.  This includes the primary school, local centre and residential 
uses.  Materials will be inspired by Daventry town centre, predominately red brick with a 
secondary contrast palette to include options such as render, cladding and ironstone.  
Flexibility is key to enable focal buildings to be planned at key frontages.  At the upper 
levels there will be a mix of residential, commercial and community uses. 

8.22. Core (including the spine road).  The Core character area provides primary connectivity 
along the east to west spine road, as well as to the southern residential areas.  It will be 
predominately residential in terms of uses and will provide legible connections to the 
local centre.  The Core character area is straight and long in nature which emphasises 
the terminating views of the town character area and edge character area.  Buildings will 
be higher and less variation will be seen in architectural features to create a consistent 
rhythm along the streets. 

8.23. District (suburban). This forms the residential core of the development.  The character 
area generally comprises a semi-formal and ordered arrangement of development 
blocks and tertiary streets that are structured to provide views out to the edges and open 
space beyond.  Predominant use of semi-detached or terraced units, located on smaller 
plots.  Use of more suburban building forms, reflecting the existing surrounding 
development of Daventry centre will be delivered.  It will provide an identifiable contrast 
to the Core, Edge and Town character areas.  

8.24. Edge. This area will respond to the rural nature of the former agricultural fields and 
farmland.  In particular the materials and boundary treatment will reflect the location of 
the edge of the development onto its rural surroundings.  Development will reinforce the 
location of the green infrastructure and provide permeability to pedestrian and cyclist 
routes.  Lower buildings and public open space will be provided to protect views over 
Stepnell Spinney and the surrounding external green open space.  

8.25. Officers are satisfied that the Detailed Design Instructions will provide for enough variety 
and flexibility to create a visually interesting, distinctive and legible development whilst 
also giving enough detail to guide the design of reserved matters applications to ensure 
a consistency of approach which is respectful of the surrounding areas. 

Green Infrastructure 

8.26. This section sets out details for the landscaping strategy to be applied across the SUE.  
The strategy gives guidance about the principles to be applied when designing the key 
green spaces for the development.  The landscape within the development will provide 
a series of interconnected parks which are based around existing site features and 
located in places that help assimilate the housing into the wider surrounding 
environment.  

8.27. The strategy will look into each key area within the landscape and set out principles that 
will be taken forward in future Reserved Matters application.  This includes, Stepnell 
Park, local centre, green links, Badby edge, High Point Park, wetland edge and 
residential green.   

8.28. A Planting Palette is included for the various types of green spaces as well as for each 
of the landscape areas.  This describes the species of plants to be used within each 

Page 50



area.  Using plants of varying shapes, sizes and colours will help to create a distinctive 
character and reinforce and harmonise with the built form.   

8.29. Also included in this chapter are sections to illustrate how land levels vary across the site 
in relation to the proposed open spaces/green link/parks.   

8.30. Officers are satisfied that the landscaping strategy will help developers to design 
appropriate detailed landscaping proposals for the development which will be 
sympathetic to and support the creation of distinctive character areas. 

9. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1. CIL is payable at the relevant rate for residential and retail uses on commencement. 
 

10. PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

10.1. The proposed Daventry South West Design Code is consistent with the outline planning 
permission and represents a logical progression from the associated Masterplan and 
Design and Access Statement.  The applicants have worked with officers to amend and 
revise the code to produce a set of guidelines which should enable developers to design 
appropriate, detailed, reserved matters planning applications for this SUE.  Condition 8 
of the planning permissions should be discharged. 
 

10.2. A further amendment is required to the Design Code prior to Officers being in a position 
to recommend discharging the condition. 

 

11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1. RECOMMENDATION – TO DELEGATE TO THE HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT 

MANAGEMENT TO APPROVE THE DETAILS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO 
CONDITION 8 (DESIGN CODE) SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING MATTERS BEING 
ADDRESSED IN A REVISED DESIGN CODE AND CONSIDERED ACCETPABLE: 
 

 The submission of a revised section of the code on summary and character analysis 

table. 

 The submission of a Regulating Plan. 

 Clarification of a number of issues raised by the case officer including chimneys, 

relationship with Badby House, use of edible landscaping, affordable housing, 

drainage and utilities design.  

 Comments being received and addressed by consultees.   

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	 Planning Applications
	5 WNS/2022/0292/MAR Phase 1 and PART Phase 1B Norwood Farm, Land East of Sandy Lane Harpole
	WNS/2022/0292/MAR Committee Report

	6 C/2019/0750/1 Land at Malabar Farm, Staverton Road, Daventry
	C/2019/0750/1 Committee Report


